In the Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. SC00-490

JOHN CASTILLO, a minor by and through his mother, next friend and natural guardian, DONNA CASTILLO, and DONNA CASTILLO and JUAN CASTILLO, individually,

Petitioners,

v.

E.I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS and COMPANY, INC., and PINE ISLAND FARMS, INC.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FERRARO & ASSOCIATES, P.A.
200 S. Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 3800
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone (305) 375-0111
-andRUSSO PARRISH APPELLATE FIRM
6101 Southwest 76th Street
Miami, Florida 33143
Telephone (305) 666-4660

Attorneys for Petitioners

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case and course of proceedings

This suit was brought by the Plaintiffs/Petitioners Donna and Juan Castillo ("Plaintiffs") claiming the damages sustained by their family as a result of their son John being born with the birth defect of microphthalmia due to his mother's exposure during pregnancy to a DuPont chemical fungicide called Benlate. (R. Vol. I, pp. 2-14). Microphthalmia, and the closely related defect of anophthalmia, are conditions where a fetus fails to develop the eye organ properly and the baby is thus born without eyes. (R. Vol. I, pp. 2-14).

Plaintiffs' suit alleged that Defendant/Respondent DuPont negligently manufactured and distributed Benlate, an unreasonably dangerous and defective product due to its harmful capacity for causing birth defects. (R. Vol. I, pp. 2-13; 34-47). Plaintiffs also sued Defendant/Respondent Pine Island Farms for negligently spraying Benlate on its fields during periods of strong wind currents, thus allowing the chemical to blow into nearby

¹References to the record appear as (R. Vol. ____, p. ____), and references to the trial transcript appear as (T. Vol. ____, p. ____). All emphasis in this brief is supplied unless otherwise stated.

residential and shopping areas where people could be exposed to its harmful properties. (R. Vol. I, pp. 34-47).

After an extended period of discovery, the case was eventually scheduled for a jury trial in May of 1996. (R. Vol. XLIII-LXXXVIII). Upon motion of the Defendants, the trial court held an extended evidentiary $Frye^2$ hearing to resolve a motion in limine filed by the Defendants seeking to exclude the testimony of Plaintiff's expert. (T. Vol. XLV, XLVI, XLVII; S.R. 1-69). Concluding that the methodology employed by Plaintiff's expert for reaching his conclusions was that commonly and generally accepted in the relevant scientific fields, the trial court denied the defense motion in limine and the case proceeded to trial. (T. Vol. XLV, XLVI, XLVII; S.R. 1-69).

The trial lasted over a month and resulted in a jury verdict for the Plaintiffs against both Defendants. (T. Vol. LXXXIX, pp. 5573-5576). The jury awarded Plaintiffs damages in the combined amount of \$4,000,000 (T. Vol. LXXXIX, pp. 5573-5576).

B. Disposition in the lower tribunals and the petition for discretionary review by this Court

The Third District reversed and remanded for entry of judgment in favor of Defendants DuPont and Pine Island, ruling - erroneously, we contend - that (1) "the [P]laintiffs' scientific evidence, and the conclusions it embraces, should have been excluded"; and (2) while the Plaintiffs had sufficiently proven that Plaintiff Donna Castillo and her unborn child had been exposed to Benlate as to Defendant Pine Island because Pine

²Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

Island admitted that it was using Benlate on the field and time in question, Plaintiffs' proof of exposure was not sufficient as to Defendant DuPont. Plaintiffs thereupon sought discretionary review from this Court as Plaintiffs believe that the Third District misapplied the Frye test, as refined by this Court in Ramirez v. State, 651 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 1995). Plaintiffs submit that the Third District's opinion incorrectly focused on the *conclusions* drawn by the Plaintiffs' experts rather than on the underlying scientific principles and methodologies they employed, which in fact were identical to those employed by the Defendants' own trial experts and, for that matter, by DuPont itself in obtaining approval to market Benlate. The opinion thus conflicts with Brim v. State, 695 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1997) and Berry v. CSX Transportation, Inc. 709 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA) rev. denied, 718 So. 2d 167 (1998), which acknowledge that "Frye allows opposite opinion testimony from experts relying upon the same generally accepted scientific principles and methodologies." Berry, 709 So. 2d at 567. See also Brim, 695 So. 2d at 269. Plaintiffs also contend that the Third District erred as a matter of law when it concluded that the Plaintiffs' evidence was sufficient to prove that the chemical spray to which Donna Castillo was exposed was Benlate in the case against Pine Island but not sufficient as to DuPont.

This Court issued an order accepting jurisdiction and directing the parties to brief the merits of the case, and these proceedings ensued.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. General facts on the issue of Benlate as a teratogen that caused John Castillo's microphthalmia

1. The evidence about the exposure and eventual discovery of the potential link between Benlate and John Castillo's birth defect

In 1989, Plaintiffs Juan and Donna Castillo and their 6-month old daughter Adriana were living in an apartment complex in Kendall, Florida. (T. Vol. LVI, p. 883). The complex was near a shopping plaza, across from which lay a strawberry and tomato U-Pic field operated by Pine Island Farms. (T. Vol. LVI, p. 904).

Sometime late in September of 1989, Mrs. Castillo became pregnant with her second child. (T. Vol. LVI, p. 932, T. Vol. LXVI, p. 2115). During her pregnancy, Mrs. Castillo took daily walks with her first child, Adriana, for exercise and as an outing for the child, and they often walked past the Pine Island U-Pic field on 137th Avenue. (T. Vol. LVI, p. 901).

One day while walking past the field, Mrs. Castillo was showered by a mist from the spray operations carried by wind drift. (T. Vol. LVI, p. 909). It was a warmish day in early November of 1989, and Mrs. Castillo, wearing a sleeveless blouse and shorts, felt the mist from the spray operation envelop her and wet her skin with what first seemed to her "like a sun shower." (T. Vol. LVI, pp. 905-911). The mist was cloudy white in color and did not have any odor. (T. Vol. LVI, pp. 908-911). The incident occurred on November 1st or 2nd of 1989. (T. Vol. LVI, pp. 905-906).

At the time, Mrs. Castillo was between the sixth and seventh weeks of pregnancy with her son-to-be John. (T. Vol. LVI, p. 932; Vol. LXVI, p. 2215). That sixth-to-seventh week time period is the critical stage during the growth of the human fetus for the development of eyes. (T. Vol. LXX, p. 2989; T. Vol. LXXI, p. 3004). When John was born in June of 1990, he had no eyes, a birth defect that her physician told her was referred to as microphthalmia. (T. Vol. LVI, p. 889). Physicians were able to pinpoint October 23 through November 5, 1989 as the time frame during which the arrest in development of John's eyes occurred, which was precisely the time Mrs. Castillo was misted by the wind-carried spray from the spray operations at the Pine Island U-Pic field. (T. Vol. LXXI, p. 3004).

The Castillos went to doctors and geneticists to see if some reason could be determined for John's birth defect, and to ascertain whether some genetic defect in either of their families should affect their decisions as to having other children in the future. (T. Vol. LVI, pp. 895-899, 1013; Vol. LXXIX, pp. 4083, 4093-4094). Every physician and doctor who testified in this case - including *all* of the expert witnesses for all parties - were in agreement that the Castillo family was subjected to the full battery of all available genetic tests and assessments, and that the test results showed that there was no known genetic cause for John's microphthalmia. (T. Vol. LXXII, pp. 3063-3064; R. Vol. XL, pp. 7970-7971).

With all known genetic causes ruled out, John's microphthalmia could only have been caused by an environmental agent, i.e., something to which his mother was exposed during pregnancy, or by a genetic defect of some type as yet unknown and undiscovered to science. (T. Vol. LXXXIV, pp. 4958-4962; R. Vol. XL, pp. 8131-8145). As to the environmental teratogens, it was determined - and the defense experts conceded - that all such environmental teratogens that are commonly encountered - such as Rubella, Vitamin A, PCB's, smoking, etc. - were ruled out in Donna Castillo's case. (T. Vol. LXXXIV, pp. 4958-4962; R. Vol. XL, p. 8142).

Elsewhere, in England, *The London Observer* newspaper happened to have undertaken an investigation in the early 1990's of a phenomenon which had been noticed in Great Britain consisting of an unusual number of cases of children being born without eyes. (T. Vol. LXI, pp. 1582-1583). Benlate was being investigated as a possible cause as the families of the afflicted children lived in the vicinity of farms where Benlate was being sprayed. (T. Vol. LXI, pp. 1586, 1624). The researchers for *The London Observer* initially investigated the cases in Great Britain, and then expanded their research beyond England to the United States and elsewhere. (T. Vol. LXI, p. 1584). They contacted medical authorities, educational authorities, and organizations concerned with the welfare of visually-impaired children seeking to get in touch with parents of children with microphthalmia and anophthalmia. (T. Vol. LXI, p. 1584).

In April or May of 1993, Donna Castillo was contacted by London Observer reporters John Ashton and John McGee, in the course of their investigation of the connection between Benlate and children with anophthalmia and microphthalmia. (T. Vol. LVI, pp. 917-918; T. Vol. LXI, pp. 1583-1586). In response to a series of questions asked her by the reporters in the course of her conversations with them, Mrs. Castillo told them about the U-Pic field in her neighborhood and her daily walks past it during her pregnancy. (T. Vol. LVI, pp. 917-918; T. Vol. LXI, pp. 1584-1586). On the basis of the information Mrs. Castillo provided, the reporters made a series of telephone calls and tracked down one Lynn Chaffin, the vice-president of Pine Island Farms, the farming company which operated this particular field as a U-Pic field in addition to larger commercial field operations it had throughout Kendall and Homestead. (T. Vol. LXI, pp. 1586-1592; T. Vol. LXVIII, pp. 2595-2598). Reporter Ashton called Chaffin by telephone from London, and, during the conversation, Chaffin told Ashton that Pine Island had used Benlate products up until 1991, and specifically told Ashton that Pine Island had used Benlate on the U-Pic field in question in November of 1989. (T. Vol. LXI, pp. 1592-1602, 1627).

Benlate, as it turns out, is a known teratogen - a fact which appears without dispute in this record and which has been specifically conceded by DuPont. (R. Vol. XV, p. 3136; R. Vol. XL, p. 7978; T. Vol. LXVII, pp. 2396-2402). Indeed, DuPont had little choice but to make the concession because DuPont's own rat studies of Benlate proved that it is a

teratogen, and, more significantly for purposes of this case, the DuPont studies specifically proved that a main birth defect caused by Benlate is the rare defect of microphthalmia. (T. Vol. LXVII, pp. 2384-2385, 2396-2418). DuPont's response in this litigation has simply been to take the position that there is no "proof" that Benlate is a *human* teratogen. In any event, other scientists have also performed animal studies which repeatedly confirmed Benlate's teratogenic effects including its causation of microphthalmia and anophthalmia.³

In any event, to recap the evidence that led Plaintiffs to seek further information from scientific studies and from experts as to whether Benlate could have been the cause of their son's microphthalmia was: (1) John Castillo was born with microphthalmia; (2) there was no known genetic cause for his microphthalmia, leaving an overwhelming probability that the cause was an environmental exposure of his mother to a teratogen during the sixth to

³See, e.g., E. Hoogenboom, et al: Effects on the fetal rat eye of maternal benomyl exposure and protein malnutrition, Current Eye Research, June 14, 1991; Hoogenboom E., et al: Effects of benomyl exposure and protein deficiency on the fetal rat eye. Teratology 37:465, 1988; F. Zeman, et al: Effects on the fetus of maternal benomyl exposure in the protein-deprived rat, J. Toxicol Environ Health 17:405-17, 1986; Developmental Toxicity Study of H-15647 Administered via Gavage to New Zealand White Rabbits, Angus Research Laboratories, Inc., July 3, 1985; S. Carter: Effect of benomyl on the reproductive development of male rats. Kavlock, R., Chernoff, N., U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, et al: Teratogenic effects of benomyl in the wistar rat and CD-1 Mouse, with emphasis on the route of administration, Toxicology and Applied Pharmacolofy, 1981; J Toxicol Environ Health 13:53-68, 1984; R. Culik, Senior Research Teratologist, Haskell Laboratory for Toxicology, Determination of Benomyl/Methyl-2-Benzimidazole Carbamate (MBC) Concentrations in Maternal Blood and in the Concepti of Rats Exposed to Benomyl and Benlate® by Diet, January 29, 1981; R.E. Staples, Study Director Staff Teratologist: Benomyl: Teratogenicity in the rat after administration by gavage, September 18, 1980.

seventh week of her pregnancy when eyes begin to develop in the fetus; (3) all of the most common environmental teratogens had been ruled out in Mrs. Castillo's case; (4) Mrs. Castillo had in fact experienced an exposure incident during the sixth to seventh week of her pregnancy; (5) according to the information provided by Pine Island Farms, the chemical to which she was exposed was the fungicide Benlate; (6) Benlate is a known and proven teratogen as shown by DuPont's own rat studies; and (7) a specific teratogenic effect of Benlate is the generally very rare birth defect of microphthalmia. (T. Vol. LVI, p. 889; T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2980-2961; T. Vol. XLVII, p. 77; R. Vol. XL, pp. 7978, 8085).

2. The scientific evidence about Benlate's ability to reach a human fetus and to interfere with the normal development of its organs

As with any suspected link between a chemical and a birth defect, it must be determined whether the chemical could *reach* the fetus in an amount sufficient to cause the adverse effect. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2960-2962; T. Vol. LXXXIV, p. 4977). Here too DuPont's own studies were instrumental in providing the answers, as were studies by other scientists. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2962-2963; T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2972-2976).

Studies by DuPont's European affiliate ICI have shown - and it was undisputed among all the experts for all parties in the case - that where there has been a dermal exposure to Benlate, i.e., where the skin has been wetted or sprayed with Benlate, *the Benlate can travel through the skin and into the bloodstream*. (T. Vol. LXXXIV, p. 5018; T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2962-2963; T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2972-2976; R. Vol. XL, p. 7983).

Once in the bloodstream, the active ingredient in Benlate - benomyl - is pumped through the circulatory system and, in the case of a pregnant mother, will travel through the mother's circulatory system into the placenta whereupon it reaches the fetal circulatory system. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2960, 2972-2976). Once there, the benomyl remains in the fetus' small circulatory system, and it is there, as the DuPont rat studies showed, that it works its teratogenic effects. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2972-2976; T. Vol. LXXXIV, p. 4977). The reason the fetus is affected while the mother is not is that an adult liver is able to break down and detoxify the benomyl, but the fetus' liver at this early stage is underdeveloped and unable to detoxify the chemical. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2973-2974).

Benlate is a fungicide, a product whose intended purpose is to interfere with or destroy the tubulins - or microtubules - which form fungus. (R. Vol. XL, p. 8149). This fact is significant because fetal growth from fertilized egg into human form with limbs and organs is dependent on functions that must be performed by developed and fully functional tubulins, which are referred to as neurites in the context of the fetal development process (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2977-2979), as set forth next. The background information provided on this subject of fetal development is common scientific knowledge, and nothing about this portion of the case was in dispute during the case or trial. (R. *passim*).

The development of a fetus into human form occurs by a process of cell division where cells divide rapidly, resulting in a great over-profusion of cells from which the body's limbs, organs, and systems will be formed. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2977-2979). From the

plenitude of cells, certain cells are selected as the formative cells by a communication process that takes place among the cells via the hairlike tubulins, or neurites, which reach out and signal certain of the cells to assemble to become the eye, or liver, or other organ. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2977-2979). During the process, a specific time comes when the formative cells select, through use of the neurite connectors, the requisite number of additional cells for formation of a particular organ - like the eye - and the remaining, unselected cells from the over-profusion then undergo apoptosis, or self-programmed cell death. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2977-2978). Since the unselected cells are no longer necessary for organ formation, they initiate their own demise, fall away, and make themselves otherwise useful for the developing fetus by becoming nutrients. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2977-2978).

The effect of Benlate on this process - keeping in mind that its intended purpose is to break down fungus tubulins - is that when it has reached the fetal circulatory system such that it can come in contact with the fetus' organ formation process, it works the same effect on the fetal cell microtubules, or neurites, as on fungus tubulins. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2981-2993). As the growth of the cells' neurites is interfered with or halted by the Benlate, the neurites are unable to connect with a sufficient number of formative cells at the appropriate time in the organ development process. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2981-2992). Having received no communication via neurite at the appropriate time, *no* cells have been "told" that they were selected as formative cells for the organ, so they *all* initiate apoptosis, i.e., self-

programmed cell death, leaving the organ unformed and unable to form. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2981-2992).

In sum, if neurites or tubulins are interfered with or destroyed at a critical point in the development of the fetal eyes, for example, the cells have no ability to communicate and no eye organ is ever formed. (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2981-2992). So, while Benlate's ability to destroy or interfere with the formation of tubulins is useful in preventing the development of fungus on plants, it is this same mechanism by which Benlate is able to interfere with the development of eyes.⁴ (T. Vol. LXX, pp. 2981-2982).

The final determination that was necessary was whether the amount of Benlate to which Mrs. Castillo had been exposed was sufficient to reach the fetus she was carrying and interfere with the cell division and selection process then ongoing within the fetus to develop the baby's eyes. The evidence - again principally from DuPont's own studies - showed that it was.

In the DuPont *human dermal testing*, in which Benlate was being tested for its ability to pass through human skin and into the bloodstream, Benlate was applied to skin taken freshly from female post-mortem specimens (T. Vol. LXX, p. 2964) at a rate of 20 microliters per square centimeter of skin. (T. Vol. LXXI, pp. 3013-3017). The dermal studies established - as Defendants' experts have conceded - that 10% to 15% of the active

⁴Benlate can have the same effect on other organs and the animal studies show that it can cause multiple malformations - sometimes singly and sometimes in combination.

ingredient in Benlate, i.e., benomyl, travels through the skin and into the bloodstream. (T. Vol. XLVII, pp. 93-94; R. Vol. XL, p. 7983).

In 1980, Dr. Staples, DuPont's Study Director and Staff Teratologist - who was later branded a 'Lone Ranger' at DuPont for being honest in reporting his initial testing results - performed rat studies using benomyl. (T. Vol. LXVII, pp. 2412-2420). To DuPont's dismay, Dr. Staples' tests showed that rat babies were being born with microphthalmia and anophthalmia at the extremely low Benlate dose to their mothers of 10 milligrams per kilogram of body weight per day. (T. Vol. LXVII, pp. 2358-2538). With these results, the EPA decided that warnings should be issued to pregnant women advising of the potential teratogenic properties of Benlate. (T. Vol. LXVII, pp. 2424-2425; T. LXXVI, pp. 3712-3720). DuPont thus had Dr. Staples redo the study - letting Dr. Staples know its "opinion that the 10 [milligrams per kilogram per day] shouldn't be called." (T. Vol. LXVII, p. 2430).

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