IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-490

JOHN CASTILLO, a minor by and through his mother, next friend and natural guardian, Donna Castillo, DONNA CASTILLO and JUAN CASTILLO, individually,

Petitioners,

v.

E.I. DuPONT DE NEMOURS & COMPANY, INC. and PINE ISLAND FARMS, INC.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT DUPONT'S CORRECTED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Arthur J. England, Jr. Florida Bar No. 022730 Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

_

Edward W. Warren Jeffrey Bossert Clark Kirkland & Ellis Suite 1200 655 Fifteenth Street, N.W. (305) 579-0500

Washington, D.C. 20005 (202) 879-5000

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Below, DuPont presents four distinct arguments for this Court to dismiss or affirm in this case (or alternatively, to remand the case or order a new trial). *First*, the

Court lacks jurisdiction over this case. It is evident now that none of the purported conflicts in authority plaintiffs pointed to have borne fruit; and, in addition, the plaintiffs failed to advise the Court just how record-intensive and nuanced the appellate decision below was, and therefore how inappropriate a vehicle this case would be to resolve the issues (even assuming they were real) set forth in the petition.

Second, the Third District correctly identified two routine, but far-reaching evidentiary errors at trial: (1) refusing to grant DuPont a directed verdict after excluding inadmissible hearsay evidence on which the plaintiffs' entire causation case hinged; and (2) allowing the jury to be prejudiced by irrelevant references to non-existent clusters of the same birth defects allegedly caused elsewhere by Benlate. See 3d DCA Op., 748 So. 2d at 1111-13 & n.1. The first of these errors warrants reversal of the trial court and the second warrants a new trial. Most importantly, these errors are entirely independent and sufficient grounds for granting DuPont relief from the trial court's judgment, wholly apart from the *Frye* issues on which plaintiffs focus.

Third, the Third District's *Frye* ruling was inarguably correct. The Third District properly held that the testing performed by plaintiffs' experts did not comport with *Frye* because those experts had "*conceded* at the *Frye* hearing that the direct extrapolation method they used in their study was new and that they were unaware of any scientific study that has ever purported to determine a human teratogenic exposure level in this manner." *3d DCA Op.*, 748 So. 2d at 1120 (emphasis added). Nowhere did the trial judge ever attempt to explain how, in light of this concession or otherwise, the novel methodology of plaintiffs' experts satisfied *Frye*. Moreover, numerous other facets of the work of plaintiffs' experts were not generally accepted.

Fourth, plaintiffs' entire theory of exposure to Benlate was based on a misuse of the product. That alleged misuse violated not only federal pesticide law, but also precludes a finding of defect under Florida law. Even putting aside the misuse issue, however, plaintiffs presented no evidence that Benlate was a defective product. At best they presented evidence that the product should have been accompanied by additional warnings or been tested more extensively. But both failure-to-warn and negligent-testing liability are preempted by federal law. While the Third District found it unnecessary to address this last set of arguments because it found resolving the *Frye* and hearsay-related errors to be dispositive, *see id.* at 1113, those arguments also form another *independent* basis for affirming that court's judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT LACKS JURISDICTION OVER THIS CASE.

In this case, the Third District needed to do little more than simply apply the settled *Frye* rule in an obvious way to bar a type of testimony that the plaintiffs' experts admitted was not generally accepted in the scientific community. *See 3d DCA Op.*, 748 So. 2d at 1120. That uncontroversial application of *Frye* created no "direct" conflicts with the decisions of other district courts. Accordingly, this Court lacks "conflict review" jurisdiction over this case under the Florida Constitution.

The reasons DuPont maintains jurisdiction does not exist are amply described in its jurisdictional brief, which DuPont urges the Court to reconsider. Indeed, after reviewing the full merits briefing in this case, the Court should easily come to the conclusion that the decision below does not conflict with *Berry v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 709 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA), *review denied*, 718 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1998), *Mills v. State*, 476 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 1985) (overruled on other ground by Fla. Stat. § 775.021(4)), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1031 (1986); or *Gooding v. University Hospital Building., Inc.*, 445 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 1984). Indeed, those cases strongly support the Third District's decision. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss its review of this case as improvidently granted. *See, e.g., Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); *see also DiPietro v. Griefer*, 732 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1999); *St. Mary's Hosp., Inc. v. Brinson*, 709 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1988). Perhaps the most important reason review should be dismissed as improvidently granted, however, stems not from what plaintiffs alleged in order to secure review and ultimately failed to prove, but from what plaintiffs entirely glossed over in their jurisdictional brief. This case involves numerous fact-laden grounds and elementary evidentiary rulings on which DuPont prevailed in the Third District, and which have nothing to do with the issues plaintiffs present. Because several adequate and independent grounds for affirmance of the judgment below exist, this case is a poor vehicle to resolve even the phantom conflicts plaintiffs conjure.

II. THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY IDENTIFIED TWO ERRONEOUS EVIDENTIARY RULINGS BY THE TRIAL COURT, WHICH REQUIRED EITHER REVERSING THE JURY VERDICT OR GRANTING A NEW TRIAL.

The trial court made two fundamental legal errors – the first of which was to deny DuPont's motion for a directed verdict once the trial court made the decision that causation evidence the plaintiffs needed to establish their case was inadmissible against DuPont, and the second of which denied DuPont a fair trial. The Third District agreed with these two evidentiary errors identified by DuPont. *First*, the Third District concluded that the testimony of the Farm's agent, Lynn Chaffin, regarding the central issue of *when* Benlate would have first been used in the 1989 growing season, was inadmissible hearsay against DuPont – which was "fatal" to plaintiffs' attempt to prove Benlate was present in the spray to which Mrs. Castillo claims to have been exposed, and thus "obligated" the trial court to grant DuPont's motion for a directed verdict. *3d DCA Op.*, 748 So. 2d at 1113. "In that light, there is *insufficient* evidence, as against DuPont, to establish that Mrs. Castillo was sprayed with Benlate." *Id.* (emphasis added). *Second*, the Third District stated the trial court should not have "allowed plaintiffs to refer at trial to an alleged link between Benlate and unspecified 'clusters' of children born without eyes in Great Britain." *Id.* at 1111 & n.1. The

"plain vanilla" and unassailable nature of these two errors underscores why this Court should dismiss the Petition as improvidently granted, or at the very least, affirm.

A. There Is Insufficient Admissible Evidence Against DuPont That Mrs. Castillo Was Sprayed With Benlate.

1. The Chaffin "Admission" Was Not Competent Evidence Against DuPont.

In telephoning Mrs. Castillo, Ashton was seeking to establish a link between Benlate and microphthalmia based on the now-discredited assertion that there were "clusters" of children with this birth defect born near agricultural areas in Britain. *See* Tr. 1598; *see also* Section II.B. below (explaining that no such "clusters" exist). When Ashton initially asked Mrs. Castillo whether she lived in an agricultural area where she might have been exposed to Benlate during her pregnancy, she answered that she did not. *See* Tr. 918. Only later did Mrs. Castillo remember the "u-pick" field in her Miami neighborhood. *See id.* at 1046, 1367, 1614, 2594. Indeed, in four separate conversations with Ashton, Mrs. Castillo utterly failed to remember the supposed drenching incident. *See id.* at 1052, 1703-04.

Once Mrs. Castillo remembered the "u-pick" field near the family's apartment, Ashton followed up with inquiries to Farm personnel. Ashton testified that Lynn Chaffin, the Farm's field manager, had told him in a phone call in May 1993 that the Farm had used Benlate in the "fall of 1989" and in "November of 1989." *Id.* at 1598, 1600. Ashton acknowledged, however, that despite standard journalistic practice *no such statements* were recorded in his notes of the conversation. *See id.* at 1588-90, 1598-1600, 1611-12.

Ashton's testimony about what Chaffin allegedly told him was classic hearsay. *See* Fla. Stat. § 90.801(c). Thus, such "hearsay evidence is inadmissible" "[e]xcept as provided *by statute.*" *Id.* at § 90.802 (emphasis added); *see also Pickard v. Miggins*, 311 So. 2d 686, 688 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975) (inadmissible testimony cannot be relied on to create a genuine issue of material fact). And there simply are no statutory exceptions to § 90.802 applicable to DuPont in the circumstances of this case.

Indeed, the fact that Ashton's testimony in this regard could not be admitted against DuPont was so obvious that the trial court even ruled *in limine* that such evidence was not admissible against DuPont. *See* Tr. (4/29/96) 95-98; *see also* Tr. 1565, 1627; *compare id.* 4482 (lines 2-11) (improperly allowing plaintiffs' counsel to suggest during closing argument that the "Chaffin admission" rebutted a *DuPont* argument concerning the lack of available Benlate during November 1st or 2nd, the only two days that Mrs. Castillo testified the "drenching" incident could have occurred).

Thus, all the plaintiffs can offer by way of rebuttal is the mere assertion, unsupported by any citation, that the courts should create a common-law exception to this clear rule in circumstances where "DuPont[] reli[ed] upon the remainder of Chaffin's testimony." P.'s Br. 46. Even if Florida's courts could create such an exception, contrary to the Legislature's plain directive in § 90.802, plaintiffs frame the exception they are seeking to establish in misleading terms. This is not a case involving "the remainder of *Chaffin's* testimony" – i.e., DuPont picking and choosing what it wanted to rely on from Chaffin's testimony. Rather, what is at issue is the reliability of *Ashton's* testimony. Most importantly, there is already clear precedent precluding the use of the party-admission exception (Fla. Stat. § 90.803(18)(d)) against a different party. *See Dinter v. Brewer*, 420 So. 2d 932, 935-36 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (hearsay statements made by one defendant inadmissible against another).

The Third District's ruling on the Chaffin "admission" was plainly right. And the import of that simple ruling is that the Court can stop right there in its process of adjudicating the case against DuPont. For, as the District Court recognized, "[w]ithout his admission, there is insufficient evidence in this record to establish that Benlate was sprayed on the farm on the dates in question." *3d DCA Op.*, 748 So. 2d at 1113. "[T]he trial court granted DuPont's motion *in limine* to preclude the use of Chaffin's hearsay testimony against DuPont. This ruling was eminently correct and *fatal* to the plaintiffs' case against DuPont." *Id.* (emphasis added).

2. Other Circumstantial Evidence of Benlate Exposure Is Insufficient.

Plaintiffs then invite this Court to second guess the District Court's thorough record review, conducted over a more than two-year period. *See* P.'s Br. 17-18 ("detailed facts from the trial record . . . confirms exactly the opposite of the Third District's conclusion."). But this Court exercises its review powers to resolve important *questions of law and policy* about which there are differences of judicial opinion in the inferior courts, not to sift through the facts a *third* time. *See Greater Miami Dev. Corp. v. Pender*, 194 So. 867, 868 (Fla. 1940). Thus, the direction plaintiffs' argument must take again points out why this case should be dismissed.

Additionally, it is simply not true that there is ample evidence in the record other than the Ashton testimony to support the conclusion by a preponderance of the evidence that Mrs. Castillo was sprayed with Benlate on November 1st or 2nd, 1989. Plaintiffs' assertions begin with the basically correct statement that Chaffin's testimony can be interpreted to say that tomatoes were planted on the "u-pick" field between October 25 and October 27, 1989, five to eight days before November 1-2, 1989. *See* Tr. 1380. But from there the plaintiffs venture into the realm of insupportable, and indeed illogical, inference.

Plaintiffs note that Farm spray manager Eddie Sanders, Farm owner Jack Wishart, and expert witness Dr. Robert McMillan, all testified that fungicides can be used on tomatoes within a week to ten days of planting. *See* P.'s Br. 18. Indeed, plaintiffs cite Jack Wishart as confirming that "fungicides are used prophylactically." *Id.* But these literally true assertions are misleading and disingenuous because: (1) they give the wrong impression that there were concessions that *Benlate in particular* would be used so soon after the tomatoes were first planted; and (2) they ignore the undisputed record evidence that *only fungicides other than Benlate* were used in this fashion; and most importantly, (3) they ignore the undisputed record evidence that

Benlate was *not* used as a prophylactic fungicide.² *See* Tr. 1304, 3557-60, 3596-97, 3610. Indeed, to spray Benlate prophylactically would have been a violation of label conditions. *See* Section IV.A. below (misuse of the product is an independent and complete defense for DuPont); Def. Ex. C at 4 (product label); Tr. 4288.

The evidence was uncontradicted that the Farm used Benlate only on its tomatoes, *see* Tr. 1301, 1333, 1345, 2836, 3477, 3563-65, 3610-11, that the Farm did not plant its tomatoes before its strawberries, *see id.* at 2845, and that the Farm's strawberry plants did not arrive from California until October 25, 1989, *see id.* at 1125, 1189, 1197-98, 1320-23, 2683-86, 2821. Thus, even if the Farm had planted the tomatoes later that same day, it would not have used Benlate (in accord with label instructions) until at least three weeks later, when the first signs of disease could have appeared. *See id.* at 1304, 1333, 1368-69, 2857, 3475, 3557-60, 3566-67, 3609-10.

In reality, the plaintiffs' claimed mountain of circumstantial evidence reduces to nothing more than the molehill of claiming that the Farm denied the use of all other fungicides than Benlate in requests for admissions read to the jury, and therefore that Benlate, being the only remaining alternative, must have been used. *See* P.'s Br. 19. But this highly misleading argument is enabled only by another far-reaching evidentiary error made by the trial judge.

In the plaintiffs' requests for admissions, the Farm denied the use of *any and all* fungicides during November 1st or 2nd 1989. The trial court improperly allowed

² Apparently, Benlate was used improperly by the Farm as a prophylactic in the mid-1970s. But such improper use was discontinued before 1989, and thus the trial court properly excluded an attempt by plaintiffs to use that irrelevant evidence to bridge the gap between vague testimony that some fungicides were used prophylactically by the Farm and the conclusion that Benlate was such a fungicide. *See* Tr. 2606; *Sims v. Brown*, 574 So. 2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1991) ("To be relevant, particularly if remote in time, a . . . negligent cause of conduct must be shown to continue uncorrected up to the time of the act sued upon.").

the plaintiffs to read all of the Farm's fungicide denials, on a fungicide-by-fungicide basis, to the jury – all but one, that is: the Benlate denial. *See* Tr. 1573-79, 5038, 5311. The Farm was thus expressly denied its right under the completeness statute in Florida evidence law to read the Benlate denial to the jury. *See* Fla. St. § 90.108(1).³ Additionally, this error created the misimpression that before trial the Farm denied the use of all fungicides except the precise one at issue, and thus that its denials of using Benlate at trial were recent fabrications. Indeed the plaintiffs were permitted explicitly to draw exactly such an inference during closing argument.⁴

3. Plaintiffs' Speculative Inferences

The Farm's answer brief goes into greater detail about the many speculative and false inferences on which the plaintiffs' exposure case is based other than the Chaffin "admission," and DuPont adopts that argumentation as its own. The key point for present purposes, however, is that the plaintiffs cannot succeed in proving their case by stacking such speculative inferences one atop another. *See, e.g., Voelker v. Combined Ins. Co.*, 73 So. 2d 403, 404-07 (Fla. 1954); *Asplundh Tree Experts, Inc. v. Mason*, 693 So. 2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rev. denied*, 699 So. 2d 1374 (Fla. 1997).

The plaintiffs first respond to this by claiming that "[s]ince the first fact necessary to establish that Mrs. Castillo was sprayed by the fungicide Benlate was

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